

THE EFFECTS OF FRUCTOSE-INDUCED METABOLIC SYNDROME ON RENAL HAEMODYNAMIC AND EXCRETORY FUNCTION IN RAT

By

Mohammed H. Abdulla

UNIVERSITI SAINS MALAYSIA February 2012

THE EFFECTS OF FRUCTOSE-INDUCED METABOLIC SYNDROME ON RENAL HAEMODYNAMIC AND EXCRETORY FUNCTION IN RAT

By

Mohammed H. Abdulla

Thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of doctor of philosophy

February 2012

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Alhamdulillah, praise to Allah who has granted me the strength to complete the study.

First of all, I wish to express my enormous gratitude to Professor Tan Sri Dato' Dzulkifli Abdul Razak, Vice-Chancellor of Universiti Sains Malaysia for awarding me the elite Vice-Chancellor Award. This is indeed a big honor to me and a very generous support. The whole research plan and the thesis writing would never be completed without this award. I also want to thank the Institute of Postgraduate Studies (IPS) for the continuous and unlimited support during all the steps of my studies and for awarding me the USM fellowship during my master degree and part of my Ph.D studies.

My deepest gratitude and appreciation I would like to express to my supervisor, Professor Dr Munavvar Zubaid Abdul Sattar and his family for giving me the opportunity to work in this project and for his unmeasured guidance and expert supervision rendered throughout the course of the project. I feel very lucky to be a student of such a knowledgeable scientist who encouraged me and gave me all the support anytime without hesitation. I really appreciate his open-door policy to me and I have learned from him many lessons in life.

Special thanks and appreciation also go to Professor Emeritus Edward Johns, Department of Physiology, University College Cork, Ireland. I have no enough words to thank him, I am indeed very fortunate to know a great scientist like him. He was my biggest support during every step in my studies and I learned from him valuable things that I will appreciate the whole of my life.

I would like also to thank Dr Md. Abdul Hay Khan, Cardiovascular Research Center, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, USA, for his kindness and cooperation and to my laboratory colleagues, Dr Hassaan, Dr Anand, Dr Raisa, Zurina, Fathihah, Nur Jannah, Tan, Ammar, Fiaz, Zaid, Mohammed Alazhari, Jooli and Pie Pie for being there to offer me help and support throughout my study. I am grateful to you for the hours we shared in discussion about scientific, life and personal things.

Thousands of thanks go to my family in Iraq, especially my parents who dedicated their lives to loving and caring for me and my brother and sisters. Indeed no enough words will thank their sacrifice and patience. I will always be grateful to them as they are the reason of any success in my life. I also sincerely thank my family here in Malaysia (my brother, Dr Hassan H Abd Allah and my sister in law, Dr Rana K Hadi) who always support and encourage me, without their help I could not finish this research.

Last, but not least, I would like to thank my beloved wife Noor Anwer Mohammed Alrubye for her patience throughout my studies and for her sacrifice and love beyond anyone's understanding, I will always appreciate her support and care.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Acknowledgements	ii
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	xii
List of Tables	XXV
List of Abbreviations	xxvii
Abstrak (Bahasa Malaysia)	xxix
Abstract (English)	xxxi

CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION

1.1 The metabolic syndrome	1
1.2 Fructose and the metabolic syndrome	2
1.2.1 Fructose metabolism	9
1.2.2 Fructose consumption and energy intake	12
1.2.3 Fructose consumption and insulin resistance	13
1.2.4 Fructose consumption and hypertension	15
1.2.5 Fructose consumption and lipids	16
1.2.6 Fructose consumption and vascular dysfunction	19
1.2.7 Fructose consumption and renal sodium handling	20
1.2.8 Fructose consumption and progression of renal disease	21
1.3 Oxidative stress	23
1.3.1 What is oxidative stress?	23
1.3.2 Free radicals	24
1.3.3 Reactive oxygen species	24
1.3.4 Antioxidants	27
1.3.5 Fructose consumption and oxidative stress	27
1.4 The sympathetic nervous system	30
1.4.1 The sympathetic nervous system and the regulation of	31

arterial pressure

1.4.2 Adrenocentors	32
$1.4.3$ $\alpha_{\rm e}$ Advence of the subtypes	35
1.4.4 Popular adrenoceptors subtypes	35
1.4.5 Signal transduction machanism of a advancementar	20
1.4.5 Signal transduction mechanism of α_1 -adrenoceptor	39
1.4.6 Fructose consumption and the sympathetic hervous	41
system	
1.4.7 Effect of fructose feeding on baroreflex control of the	42
sympathetic nervous system	
1.5 The renin-angiotensin system	45
1.5.1 Components of the renin-angiotensin system	45
1.5.2 Angiotensin receptors	50
1.5.3 Inhibition of renin-angiotensin system	54
1.5.3(a) ACE Inhibition	55
1.5.3(b) Angiotensin receptor blockade	56
1.5.4 Fructose consumption and the renin-angiotensin system	57
1.6 Effect of fructose feeding on adrenergic and Ang II control of	60
vascular tone	
1.7 The interaction between renin-angiotensin and sympathetic nervous	61
systems	
1.8 Summary of the various interventions used in fructose-induced	66
metabolic syndrome	
1.9 Research outline	69
1.9.1 The impact of high fructose feeding on the adrenergic	69
control of renal haemodynamic in the rat	
1.9.1(a) Objectives	69
1 9 1(b) Hypothesis	70
1.9.2 The interaction between the renin-angiotensin and the	70
sympathetic nervous systems in the renal and systemic vasculature of	70
fructose fed rat	
102(a) Objectives	71
1.9.2(a) Objectives	/1
1.9.2(b) Hypothesis	71

v

1.9.3 Effect of SOD mimetic treatment on metabolic	72
parameters and renal haemodynamic and excretory functions in	
fructose-fed rat	
1.9.3(a) Objectives	73
1.9.3(b) Hypothesis	73
1.9.4 Effect of chronic inhibition of Ang II and	74
adrenoceptors on the development of insulin resistance and	
hypertension, and on altered renal haemodynamic in fructose-fed rat	
1.9.4(a) Objectives	75
1.9.4(b) Hypothesis	

CHAPTER TWO – MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Experimental animals	76
2.2 Experimental design	77
2.3 Chronic treatment with losartan, carvedilol and tempol	79
2.4 Measurements	82
2.4.1 Basal and follow-up metabolic parameters	82
2.4.2 Quantitative determination of insulin in rat plasma	85
2.4.3 Measurement of plasma and urine creatinine levels	87
2.4.3(a) Urine creatinine level	87
2.4.3(b) Plasma creatinine level	88
2.4.4 Measurement of plasma and urine sodium and	89
potassium levels	
2.4.5 Measurement of urine protein content	89
2.4.5(a) Principle of the assay	89
2.4.5(b) Standard procedure for microtiter plates	90
2.4.6 Measurement of <i>in vivo</i> antioxidant activity	91
2.4.6(a) Urinary MDA level	91
2.4.6(b) Plasma SOD level	93
2.4.8 Measurement of plasma noradrenaline level	94

2.4.8(a) Principle of the assay	95
2.4.8(b) Procedure of the assay	95
2.4.9 Measurement of plasma Ang II level	97
2.4.9(a) Principle of the assay	98
2.4.9(b) Procedure of the assay	98
2.4.10 Measurement of plasma TG level	101
2.4.10(a) Principle of the test	101
2.4.11 Measurement of plasma Ch level	102
2.4.11(a) Principle of the assay	103
2.4.12 Measurement of plasma uric acid level	103
2.4.12(a) Principle of the assay	104
2.4.13 Measurement of BUN level	104
2.4.13(a) Principle of the assay	105
2.4.14 Blood pressure measurement	105
2.5 Insulin sensitivity study	107
2.5.1 Intravenous insulin glucose tolerance test (IVIGTT)	107
2.6 Systemic haemodynamic study	110
2.6.1 Vasopressor responses	110
2.6.1(a) Preparation and surgical procedure	110
2.6.1(b) Vasoactive agents	111
2.6.1(c) Experimental procedure	111
2.7 Renal haemodynamic study	113
2.7.1 Acute renal vasoconstrictor responses study	113
2.7.1(a) Preparation and surgical procedure	113
2.7.1(b) Experimental procedure	116
2.8 Calculation of renal functional parameters	120
2.8.1 Urine flow rate (UFR)	120
2.8.2 Absolute sodium and potassium excretion $(U_{Na+}V \text{ and }$	120
$U_{K+}V)$	
2.8.3 Urine sodium to potassium ratio $(U_{Na+/K+})$	121
2.8.4 Fractional excretion of sodium (FE _{Na+}) or potassium	121
(FE_{K+})	
2.8.5 Creatinine clearance (ClCr)	122

2.8.6 Urine protein to creatinine ratio	123
2.8.7 Water and sodium balance	124
2.9 Preparation of drugs	125
2.10 List of chemicals	126
2.11 List of equipment	127
2.12 Data analysis	128
2.12.1 The metabolic, haemodynamic and functional	128
parameters during the follow up study	
2.12.2 Base line renal and systemic haemodynamic	129
parameters during the acute haemodynamic study	
2.12.3 Metabolic parameters at the end of the 8 weeks	130
treatment period	
2.12.4 Systemic vasopressor responses to Ang II and	131
adrenergic agonists	
2.12.5 Renal vasoconstrictor responses to Ang II and	131
adrenergic agonists	

CHAPTER THREE – RESULTS

3.1 Basal and follow-up metabolic parameters	133
3.1.1 Body weight and fluid, food and calorie intake	133
3.1.2 Non-fasting blood glucose, triglyceride and cholesterol	135
levels	
3.2 Basal and follow-up haemodynamic parameters	137
3.3 Basal and follow-up functional parameters	139
3.3.1 Urine flow rate, absolute sodium and potassium	139
excretion, and urine sodium to potassium ratio	
3.3.2 Plasma levels of sodium, potassium and creatinine, and	142
urine level of creatinine	
3.3.3 Fractional excretion of sodium and potassium and	145
creatinine clearance	
3.3.4 Urine protein level and protein to creatinine ratio	147
3.3.5 Sodium balance	148

3.4 Metabolic and functional parameters at the end of the 8 weeks	149
treatment period	
3.5 The systemic vasopressor responses study	153
3.5.1 The effect of combined treatment with losartan and	154
carvedilol on the vasopressor responses to Ang II and adrenergic	
agonists in normal rats	
3.5.1(a) The acute vasopressor responses to Ang II and	154
adrenergic agonists	
3.5.2 The effect of losartan treatment on the vasopressor	156
responses to Ang II and adrenergic agonists in fructose-fed rats	
3.5.2(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	156
acute study	
3.5.2(b) The acute vasopressor responses to Ang II and	157
adrenergic agonists	
3.6 The acute renal vasoconstriction experiments	159
3.6.1 The contribution of α_{1A} -adrenoceptors subtype in the	160
renal vasculature of fructose-fed rats	
3.6.1(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	160
acute study	
3.6.1(b) Renal cortical vasoconstrictor responses	161
3.6.2 The contribution of α_{1B} -adrenoceptors subtype in the	164
renal vasculature of fructose-fed rats	
3.6.2(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	164
acute study	
3.6.2(b) Renal cortical vasoconstrictor response	165
3.6.3 The contribution of α_{1D} -adrenoceptors subtype in the	168
renal vasculature of fructose-fed rats	
3.6.3(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	168
acute study	
3.6.3(b) Renal cortical vasoconstrictor response	169
3.6.4 The effect of chronic losartan treatment on the renal	173
cortical vasoconstriction to adrenergic agonists and Ang II	
3.6.4(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	173

acute study

3.6.4(b) Renal cortical vasoconstrictor response	174
3.6.5 The effect of chronic carvedilol treatment on the renal	177
cortical vasoconstriction to adrenergic agonists and Ang II	
3.6.5(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	177
acute study	
3.6.5(b) Renal cortical vasoconstrictor response	178
3.6.6 The effect of chronic tempol treatment on the renal	180
cortical vasoconstriction to adrenergic agonists and Ang II	
3.6.6(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	180
acute study	
3.6.6(b) Renal cortical vasoconstrictor response	181
3.6.7 The effect of acute tempol treatment on the renal	183
cortical vasoconstriction to adrenergic agonists and Ang II	
3.6.7(a) The base line haemodynamic parameters during the	183
acute study	
3.6.7(b) Renal cortical vasoconstrictor response	184
CHAPTER FOUR – DISCUSSION	292
4.1 Basal and follow-up metabolic parameters	292
4.2 Basal and follow-up haemodynamic parameters	297
4.3 Basal and follow-up functional parameters	299
4.4 Metabolic and functional parameters at the end of the 8 weeks	305
treatment period	
4.5 The systemic vasopressor responses study	312
4.5.1 The effect of combined treatment with losartan and	312
carvedilol on the vasopressor responses to Ang II and adrenergic	
agonists in normal rats	
4.5.2 The effect of losartan treatment on the vasopressor	315
responses to Ang II and adrenergic agonists in fructose-fed rats	
4.6 The acute renal vasoconstriction experiments	318

4.6.1 The contribution of α_{1A} -adrenoceptors subtype in the	318
renal vasculature of fructose-fed rats	
4.6.2 The contribution of α_{1B} -adrenoceptors subtype in the	321
renal vasculature of fructose-fed rats	
4.6.3 The contribution of α_{1D} -adrenoceptors subtype in the	325
renal vasculature of fructose-fed rats	
4.6.4 The effect of chronic losartan and carvedilol treatment	330
on the renal cortical vasoconstriction to adrenergic agonists and Ang II	
4.6.5 The effect of chronic and acute tempol treatment on the	333
renal cortical vasoconstriction to adrenergic agonists and Ang II	
CHAPTER FIVE – CONCLUSIONS	336

REFERENCES	340
APPENDICES	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	

LIST OF FIGURES

		Page
Figure 1.1	The metabolic syndrome or syndrome X: a cluster of pathologies.	2
Figure 1.2	Chemical structures of fructose, glucose and sucrose.	6
Figure 1.3	Hepatic fructose metabolism.	11
Figure 1.4	Proposed mechanisms that may explain hypertension and decreased vascular responses to vasoactive compounds in the vascular system of fructose-fed rats.	17
Figure 1.5	Reactive oxygen species in the vascular system and the effect of tempol.	26
Figure 1.6	Fructose consumption and oxidative stress.	28
Figure 1.7	Classification of adrenoceptors	34
Figure 1.8	Components of the renin-angiotensin system.	46
Figure 1.9	Various effects produced by angiotensin II which produce elevation in blood pressure	48
Figure 1.10	Simplified representation of the association between renin- angiotensin system and insulin resistance.	59
Figure 1.11	Proposed signal transduction pathway involving AT_1 receptor and its crosstalk with α_1 -adrenoceptor expression and function.	65
Figure 2.1	Experimental protocol.	81
Figure 2.2	Summary of Ultra-Sensitive Rat Insulin ELISA.	86
Figure 2.3	Principle of Ang II enzyme immunoassay.	99

Figure 2.4	Chemical structure of cholesterol.			
Figure 2.5	Chemical structure of uric acid	103		
Figure 2.6	Representative original blood pressure tracing measured by invasive (direct) blood pressure vs. tail-cuff (indirect) blood pressure measurements.	107		
Figure 2.7	Intravenous insulin glucose tolerance test (IVIGTT).	109		
Figure 2.8	Systemic acute vasopressor response experiment.	112		
Figure 2.9	Flow chart of acute renal vasoconstrictor responses experiment.	114		
Figure 2.10	Acute renal haemodynamic study.	115		
Figure 2.11	Three-phase acute renal vasoconstrictor study	119		
Figure 3.1	The changes in body weight of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.	195		
Figure 3.2	The changes in fluid intake of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.	196		
Figure 3.3	The changes in food intake of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.	197		
Figure 3.4	The changes in calorie intake of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.	198		
Figure 3.5	The changes in non-fasting blood glucose (NFBG) of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.	199		

- Figure 3.6
 The changes in plasma triglycerides (TG) concentration of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
 200
- Figure 3.7 The changes in plasma cholesterol (Ch) concentration of 201 control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.8 The changes in systolic blood pressure (SBP) of control (C), 202 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.9 The changes in diastolic blood pressure (DBP) of control (C), 203 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.10 The changes in mean arterial pressure (MAP) of control (C), 204 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.11 The changes in heart rate (HR) of control (C), fructose-fed 205 (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.12 The changes in urine flow rate (UFR) of control (C), 206 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.13 The changes in absolute sodium excretion (U_{Na+}V) of control 207
 (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol
 (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.14 The changes in absolute potassium excretion $(U_{K+}V)$ of 208 control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.15 The changes in urine sodium to potassium ratio $(U_{Na+/K+})$ of 209

control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.

- Figure 3.16 The changes in plasma sodium concentration of control (C), 210 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.17 The changes in plasma potassium concentration of control 211 (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.18 The changes in plasma creatinine concentration of control 212 (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.19 The changes in urine creatinine concentration of control (C), 213 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.20 The changes in fractional excretion of sodium (FE_{Na+}) of 214 control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.21 The changes in fractional excretion of potassium (FE_{K+}) of 215 control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.22 The changes in creatinine clearance (ClCr) of control (C), 216 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.23 The changes in urine protein excretion of control (C), 217 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.24 The changes in urine protein to creatinine ratio of control (C), 218 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT)

treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.

- Figure 3.25 The changes in sodium intake of control (C), fructose-fed (F), 219 tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.26 The changes in sodium balance of control (C), fructose-fed 220 (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats over the 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.27 Plasma triglycerides (TG) concentration of control (C), 221 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.28 Plasma cholesterol (Ch) concentration of control (C), 222 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.29 Blood urea nitrogen (BUN) of control (C), fructose-fed (F), 223 tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.30 Plasma uric acid concentration of control (C), fructose-fed 224 (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.31 Fasting blood glucose concentration of control (C), fructosefed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.32 Plasma superoxide dismutase enzyme (SOD) concentration 226 of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.33 Plasma noradrenaline (NA) concentration of control (C), 227 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.

- Figure 3.34 Plasma angiotensin II (Ang II) concentration of control (C), 228 fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.35 Plasma insulin concentration of control (C), fructose-fed (F), 229 tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.36 Urinary malondialdehyde (MDA) concentration of control 230 (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.37 Plot of blood glucose concentration across time for control 231 (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T), fructose-fed tempol (FT), losartan (L), fructose-fed losartan (FL), carvedilol (CV) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats in response to intravenous injection of glucose followed by insulin at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.38 Body weight of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T), 232 losartan (L), carvedilol (CV), fructose-fed tempol (FT), fructose-fed losartan (FL) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.39 Kidney index of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T), 233 losartan (L), carvedilol (CV), fructose-fed tempol (FT), fructose-fed losartan (FL) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.40 Adiposity index of control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T), 234 losartan (L), carvedilol (CV), fructose-fed tempol (FT), fructose-fed losartan (FL) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats at the end of 8-week feeding period.
- Figure 3.41 Vasopressor response to graded doses of noradrenaline in 235 control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus

carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.

- Figure 3.42 Vasopressor response to graded doses of phenylephrine in 236 control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.43 Vasopressor response to graded doses of methoxamine in 237 control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.44 Vasopressor response to graded doses of angiotensin II in 238 control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.45 Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP) 239 in response to noradrenaline in control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.46 Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP) 240 in response to phenylephrine in control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.47 Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP) 241 in response to methoxamine in control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.48 Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP) 242 in response to angiotensin II in control (C), losartan (L), carvedilol (CV) and losartan plus carvedilol (LCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.49 Vasopressor response to graded doses of noradrenaline in 243 control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed

losartan (FL) treated rats.

- Figure 3.50 Vasopressor response to graded doses of phenylephrine in 244 control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.51 Vasopressor response to graded doses of methoxamine in 245 control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.52 Vasopressor response to graded doses of angiotensin II in 246 control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.53 Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP) 247 in response to noradrenaline in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.54Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP)248in response to phenylephrine in control (C), fructose-fed (F),losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.55 Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP) 249 in response to methoxamine in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.56 Overall percentage change in mean arterial pressure (MAP) 250 in response to angiotensin II in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.57 Time course of the renal vasoconstrictor response to Ang II 251 in control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats.
- Figure 3.58 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 252 graded doses of noradrenaline in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.

- Figure 3.59 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 253 graded doses of phenylephrine in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.
- Figure 3.60 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 254 graded doses of methoxamine in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.
- Figure 3.61Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to
graded doses of angiotensin II in control (C) and fructose-fed
(F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.255
- Figure 3.62 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 256 graded doses of noradrenaline in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.
- Figure 3.63 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 257 graded doses of phenylephrine in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.
- Figure 3.64 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 258 graded doses of methoxamine in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.
- Figure 3.65 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 259 graded doses of angiotensin II in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.
- Figure 3.66 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 260 graded doses of noradrenaline in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of BMY7378.
- Figure 3.67 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 261 graded doses of phenylephrine in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of

BMY7378.

- Figure 3.68 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 262 graded doses of methoxamine in control (C) and fructose-fed
 (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of BMY7378.
- Figure 3.69 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 263 graded doses of angiotensin II in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of BMY7378.
- Figure 3.70 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 264 blood flow (CBF) in response to noradrenaline (NA) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.
- Figure 3.71 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 265 blood flow (CBF) in response to phenylephrine (PE) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.
- Figure 3.72 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 266 blood flow (CBF) in response to methoxamine (ME) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.
- Figure 3.73 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 267 blood flow (CBF) in response to angiotensin II (Ang II) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of 5-MU.
- Figure 3.74 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 268 blood flow (CBF) in response to noradrenaline (NA) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.

- Figure 3.75 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 269 blood flow (CBF) in response to phenylephrine (PE) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.
- Figure 3.76 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 270 blood flow (CBF) in response to methoxamine (ME) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.
- Figure 3.77 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 271 blood flow (CBF) in response to angiotensin II (Ang II) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of CEC.
- Figure 3.78 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 272 blood flow (CBF) in response to noradrenaline (NA) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of BMY7378.
- Figure 3.79 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 273 blood flow (CBF) in response to phenylephrine (PE) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of BMY7378.
- Figure 3.80 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 274 blood flow (CBF) in response to methoxamine (ME) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of BMY7378.
- Figure 3.81 Bar graph shows the overall % drop in the renal cortical 275 blood flow (CBF) in response to angiotensin II (Ang II) in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats during pre-drug phase, low and high dose of BMY7378.
- Figure 3.82 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 276

graded doses of noradrenaline in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.

- Figure 3.83 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 277 graded doses of phenylephrine in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.84 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 278 graded doses of methoxamine in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.85 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 279 graded doses of angiotensin II in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan (FL) treated rats.
- Figure 3.86 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 280 graded doses of noradrenaline in control (C), fructose-fed (F), carvedilol (CV) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.87 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 281 graded doses of phenylephrine in control (C), fructose-fed (F), carvedilol (CV) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.88 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 282 graded doses of methoxamine in control (C), fructose-fed (F), carvedilol (CV) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.89 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 283 graded doses of angiotensin II in control (C), fructose-fed (F), carvedilol (CV) and fructose-fed carvedilol (FCV) treated rats.
- Figure 3.90Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to284graded doses of noradrenaline in control (C), fructose-fed

(F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats.

- Figure 3.91Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to285graded doses of phenylephrine in control (C), fructose-fed(F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats.
- Figure 3.92 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 286 graded doses of methoxamine in control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats.
- Figure 3.93 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 287 graded doses of angiotensin II in control (C), fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempol (FT) treated rats.
- Figure 3.94 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 288 graded doses of noradrenaline in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats.
- Figure 3.95 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 289 graded doses of phenylephrine in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats.
- Figure 3.96 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 290 graded doses of methoxamine in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats.
- Figure 3.97 Dose-response curve of the renal vasoconstrictor responses to 291 graded doses of angiotensin II in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1	The metabolic effects of variable forms of fructose administration in different species with different lengths of the feeding periods.	8
Table 1.2	The effect of various interventions on fructose-induced hypertension and insulin resistance in rat.	67
Table 2.1	Diet composition derived from nutrients.	77
Table 2.2	Experimental groups.	80
Table 2.3	Sampling frequency and parameters measured throughout the study.	84
Table 2.4	Urine creatinine sample preparation.	87
Table 2.5	Sample preparation for MDA estimation.	92
Table 2.6	Sample preparation for SOD estimation.	93
Table 2.7	Noradrenaline plasma level determination by ELISA.	96
Table 2.8	Summary of experimental protocol.	118
Table 3.1	Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the acute vasopressor response experiment in control (C), fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartan treated (FL) rats.	187
Table 3.2	Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the acute renal vasoconstrictor experiment in control (C) and fructose-fed (F) rats in the presence and absence of 5-MU.	188

- Table 3.3Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the189acute renal vasoconstrictor experiment in control (C) andfructose-fed (F) rats in the presence and absence of CEC.
- Table 3.4Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the
acute renal vasoconstrictor experiment in control (C) and
fructose-fed (F) rats in the presence and absence of
BMY7378.
- Table 3.5Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the191acute renal vasoconstrictor experiment in control (C),fructose-fed (F), losartan (L) and fructose-fed losartantreated (FL) rats.
- Table 3.6Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the192acute renal vasoconstrictor experiment in control (C),fructose-fed (F), carvedilol (CV) and fructose-fedcarvedilol treated (FCV) rats.
- Table 3.7Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the193acute renal vasoconstrictor experiment in control (C),fructose-fed (F), tempol (T) and fructose-fed tempoltreated (FT) rats.
- Table 3.8Base line haemodynamic parameters measured during the
acute renal vasoconstrictor experiment in control (C) and
fructose-fed (F) rats in the presence and absence of tempol
acute infusion.194

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Details
μg	microgram
μl	microliter
5-MU	5-methylurapidil
ACE	angiotensin converting enzyme
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
AMP	adenosine monophosphate
Ang II	angiotensin II
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ARB	angiotensin receptor blocker
AT_1	angiotensin II (type 1) receptor
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BMI	body mass index
bpm	beat per minute
bpu	blood perfusion unit
BUN	blood urea nitrogen
Ca^{2+}	calcium
CBF	cortical blood flow
CFC	chloroethylclonidine
Ch	cholesterol
ClCr	creatinine clearance
CVD	cardiovascular diseases
DBP	diastolic blood pressure
dl	deciliter
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
	deoxycorticosterone acetate
FLISA	anzyma linkad immunosorbant assay
a	grom
g CED	glomorular filtration rate
CTD	guanosina triphosphata
	hydrogon parovido
	high density linearctain
	high fructose corr surun
	high fluctose com syrup
	hour
	introportopool
1.p.	interpendoneal
I.U.	incernational unit
	interestion triphosphate
	intravenous insuin giucose toierance test
kg	Kilogram
L	liter
m	meter
MAP	mean arterial pressure
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MBF	medullary blood flow
MDA	malonyldialdehyde

ME	methoxamine
mg	milligram
min	minute
ml	milliliter
mmHg	millimeter mercury
mmol	millimole
NA	noradrenaline
Na^+	sodium
NaCl	sodium chloride
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NFBG	non-fasting blood glucose
ng	nanogram
NIBP	non-invasive blood pressure
nm	nanometer
NO	nitric oxide
$O_2^{-\bullet}$	superoxide anion
°C	degree Celsius
OGTT	oral glucose tolerance test
P _{Cr}	plasma creatinine
PE	phenylephrine
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
PLC	phospholipase C
RAP	renal arterial pressure
RAS	renin-angiotensin system
RBF	renal blood flow
ROS	reactive oxygen species
rpm	revolutions per minute
SBP	systolic blood pressure
SD	Sprague-Dawley
SEM	standard error of mean
SHR	spontaneously hypertensive rats
SNS	sympathetic nervous system
SOD	superoxide dismutase
TG	triglycerides
TMB	3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine
U	unit
U _{Cr}	urine creatinine
UFR	urine flow rate
VLDL	very low density lipoprotein
VSMC	vascular smooth muscle cell
w/v	weight by volume
WKY	Wistar-Kyoto
α	alpha
β	beta
γ	gamma
δ	delta
3	epsilon
ζ	zeta
-	

KESAN SINDROM METABOLIK DIARUH FRUKTOSA TERHADAP HEMODINAMIK DAN FUNGSI EKSKRETORI GINJAL PADA TIKUS

ABSTRAK

Kajian ini menyelidek sama ada keresponsifan α_1 -adrenoseptor pada vaskulatur ginjal terubah semasa sindrom metabolik yang disebabkan pemberian fruktosa yang tinggi. Tikus Sprague-Dawley jantan dirawat selama 8 minggu dengan 20% fruktosa dalam air minuman (F), sementara tikus kawalan diberi minum air paip (C) ad libitum. Parameter metabolik, fungsian dan hemodinamik dinilai setiap minggu dan pada akhir kajian. Pada set yang lain, tikus F diberikan sama ada carvedilol (FCV) atau losartan (FL) pada (10mg/kg/hari po) selama 3 minggu bermula dari minggu kelima eksperimen. Kumpulan tikus yang lain diberikan tempol, suatu superoksida dismutase mimetik (FT) pada (1 mmol/L) dengan 20% fruktos dalam air minuman selama 8 minggu. Pada akhir tempoh rawatan, suatu ujian tolerans glukosa insulin intervena dijalankan untuk menilai kesensitifan insulin. Selanjutnya, tikus dibius dengan pentobarbiton dan pengurangan aliran darah kortikal renal diaruh melalui pemberian-secara- intrarenal noradrenalina (NA), fenilefrina (PE), metoksiamina (ME) dan angiotensin II (Ang II) yang ditentukan dalam kehadiran dan ketidakhadiran 5-metilurapidil (5-MU), kloroetilklonidina (CEC) atau BMY 7378. Data, min±SEM tertakluk pada ANOVA dengan kesignifikanan pada P<0.05. Pada akhir minggu kelapan, didapati bahawa F mempunyai paras sistemik yang tinggi bagi tekanan darah, glukosa plasma, trigliserida dan insulin, tetapi secara signifikannya pecahan natrium dan ekskresi kalium adalah rendah jika dibandingkan dengan C. Tikus F menunjukkan pengurangan (P<0.05) respons vaskular renal terhadap NA, PE, ME dan Ang II jika dibandingkan dengan C. Respons terhadap Ang II secara signifikannya adalah berkurangan atau merosot oleh 5-MU, CEC dan BMY 7378,

dan juga selepas rawatan dengan carvedilol, losartan atau tempol pada tikus F dan C. Respons adrenergik semakin berkurangan oleh 5-MU dan ditingkatkan oleh CEC atau BMY 7378 pada tikus F. Rawatan dengan tempol atau losartan meningkatkan respons konstriktor terhadap NA, PE dan ME dibandingkan dengan F. Data ini mencadangkan bahawa pengambilan fruktos tinggi kronik akan mengurangkan kesensitifan vaskular terhadap agonis adrenergik dan Ang II. Ia juga menghasilkan retensi natrium yang boleh menjelaskan tekanan darah tinggi pada tikus-tikus ini. Di α_{1A} -adrenoseptor merupakan fungsi subjenis samping itu, vang boleh menyederhanakan respons vasokonstriksi dalam tikus yang diberi fruktosa. Ang II memainkan peranan penting dalam mengawal atur hemodinamik renal dan perkaitan interaktif yang wujud di antara Ang II dan neurotransmisi adrenergik pada tikus-tikus ini. Radikal superoksida memainkan peranan penting dalam mengawal respons vascular renal terhadap Ang II dan agonis adrenergik keadaan berintangan insulin. Tambahan pula, rawatan dengan carvedilol, losartan dan tempol boleh meningkatkan kesensitifan insulin dalam model ini.

THE EFFECTS OF FRUCTOSE-INDUCED METABOLIC SYNDROME ON RENAL HAEMODYNAMIC AND EXCRETORY FUNCTION IN RAT

ABSTRACT

This study investigated whether the α_1 -adrenoceptor responsiveness of the renal vasculature was altered in a metabolic syndrome state due to high-fructose feeding. Male Sprague-Dawley rats were fed for 8 weeks with 20% fructose in the drinking water (F), while their controls received tap water (C) to drink ad libitum. Metabolic, functional and haemodynamic parameters were assessed weekly and at the end of the study. In another set of rats, F received either carvedilol (FCV) or losartan (FL) at (10mg/kg/day po) for 3 weeks starting from week 5 of the experiment. Another group of rats received tempol, a superoxide dismutase mimetic (FT) at (1 mmol/L) with 20% fructose in drinking water for 8 weeks. At the end of the treatment period, an intravenous insulin glucose tolerance test was performed to assess insulin sensitivity. Moreover, rats were pentobarbitone anaesthetized and the reductions in renal cortical blood flow induced by intrarenal administration of noradrenaline (NA), phenylephrine (PE), methoxamine (ME) and angiotensin II (Ang II) were determined in the presence and absence of 5-methylurapidil (5-MU), chloroethylclonidine (CEC) or BMY 7378. Data, mean±SEM were subjected to ANOVA with significance at P < 0.05. At the end of the 8 weeks, F had higher systemic blood pressure, plasma glucose, triglycerides and insulin levels but significantly lower absolute and fractional sodium and potassium excretion as compared to C. The F rats expressed reduced (P<0.05) renal vascular responses to NA, PE, ME and Ang II compared to C. The response to Ang II was significantly attenuated by 5-MU, CEC and BMY 7378, and also following carvedilol, losartan or tempol treatments in the F and C rats. The adrenergic responses were blunted by 5-MU and enhanced by CEC or BMY 7378 in the F. Tempol or losartan treatment enhanced the constrictor responses to NA, PE and ME compared to F. These findings suggest that chronic high-fructose intake blunts vascular sensitivity to adrenergic agonists and Ang II. It also produced sodium retention which may explain high blood pressure in these rats. In addition, α_{1A} -adrenoceptor is the functional subtype that mediates renal vasoconstriction response in the fructose-fed rats. Ang II plays an important role in regulating renal haemodynamics and an interactive relationship exists between Ang II and adrenergic neurotransmission in these rats. Superoxide radicals play crucial role in controlling renal vascular responses to Ang II and adrenergic agonists in insulin resistant state. Moreover, carvedilol, losartan and tempol treatments improved insulin sensitivity in this model.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 The metabolic syndrome

Recently we have witnessed the appearance of the metabolic syndrome with its terrifying impacts on human health worldwide. This epidemic syndrome occurs as a result of adapting new life style that is characterized by lack of activity and bad eating habits. A group of pathologies including hyperlipidemia, hypertriglyceridemia, impaired glucose tolerance, insulin resistance and hypertension have been collectively reported to be associated with the metabolic syndrome (also known as syndrome X or insulin resistance syndrome) (Reaven, 1988, Wajchenberg et al., 1994) (Figure 1.1). The metabolic syndrome has been found in approximately 20% to 30% of a middle-aged population in highly industrialized countries (Hansen, 1999). For example, it is suggested to present in about 25 to 50% of the population of the United States (Keller and Lemberg, 2003) making the metabolic syndrome one of the most common diseases. It has been suggested that there is a relationship between the metabolic syndrome manifestations and the risk for developing cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus and renal disease (Lorenzo et al., 2003, Lakka et al., 2002, Malik et al., 2004). Although not all people with the metabolic syndrome necessarily have diabetes but it is suggested to be a strong prediabetic condition as impaired glucose tolerance can readily be converted to type 2 diabetes mellitus (LeRoith et al., 2003). In addition, there is a link between the metabolic syndrome and premature morbidity and mortality (Keller and Lemberg, 2003, Songer, 1992). In

relation to this, recent clinical studies showed that the metabolic syndrome is associated with higher risk of proteinuria and chronic kidney disease (Chen et al., 2004, Kurella et al., 2005). It is also agreed that insulin resistance is the joint etiologic factor in the metabolic syndrome (Reaven, 1988).



Figure 1.1: The metabolic syndrome or syndrome X: a cluster of pathologies.

There are two pathophysiological components related to the metabolic syndrome: genetic and environmental factors (LeRoith et al., 2003). It has been found that there is a strong family history of type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension in individuals who will develop the metabolic syndrome. Environmental influences play an important role in developing the metabolic syndrome (Reaven, 2003). These may include sedentary lifestyle, smoking, and progressive weight gain which can lead to the metabolic syndrome, however, they are associated with a very little genetic influence (LeRoith et al., 2003). In addition, one of the elements of the lifestyle component of the metabolic syndrome which is controllable is nutrition which has the importance of directly influencing humans' health. The increased availability of food rich in calories and the "Westernization" of diets have contributed significantly to the epidemic of metabolic syndrome (Basciano et al., 2005). Diets rich in fat or carbohydrate have been linked to the metabolic syndrome whereby weight gain, insulin resistance, and hyperlipidemia were detected in humans and animals (Hill et al., 1992, Kromhout et al., 1995, Kromhout, 2001).

In order to allow accurate diagnosis of the metabolic syndrome, a precise definition of the metabolic syndrome has been introduced. Since insulin resistance was highlighted as the major component of this syndrome, therefore, it has been suggested that the presence of insulin resistance is required along with two additional parameters for the diagnosis of the metabolic syndrome. For example, the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP), Adult Treatment Panel (ATP III) adapted a standard guideline for the metabolic syndrome to be considered (2001). According to this guideline, if three of the five following conditions are present in patients, they are diagnosed as having the metabolic syndrome.

These conditions are:

- \bullet The blood pressure should be greater than or equal to 140/90 mmHg.
- The fasting plasma glucose level should be greater than or equal to 6.1 mmol/L.
- ✤ The fasting plasma triglycerides should be greater than or equal to 175 mg/dl.
- The high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol should be less than or equal to 45 mg/dl.
- Central obesity, defined as a body mass index (BMI) of 30 kg/m^2 .

However, it has the disadvantage of carrying the diagnosis without direct measure of insulin resistance (2001). Therefore, the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) has adapted another criterion to define the insulin resistance syndrome based on the NCEP ATP III guideline. In this definition the AACE focused on insulin resistance but excluded central obesity and insulin values from the definition (Einhorn et al., 2003). Moreover, other criteria, such as a family history of type 2 diabetes, hyperuricemia and polycystic ovary syndrome have also been included in this definition. Further to this, definitions have been formulated to ease the diagnosis of the metabolic syndrome with the inclusion of abdominal obesity due to its relation to insulin resistance such as the definition of International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (Alberti et al., 2005) and the definition of the American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (AHA/NHLBI) (Grundy et al., 2005). However, according to Grundy et al., (2005) it seems currently that the updated NCEP ATP III guideline is the definition which is used worldwide with minor modifications.

1.2 Fructose and the metabolic syndrome

In order to study the metabolic syndrome in an animal model where similar metabolic profile to human is provided, the fructose-fed rat model has been utilized. This model develops insulin-resistance, hyperinsulinemia and hypertriglyceridemia in a similar fashion to human metabolic syndrome (Hwang et al., 1989b, Miller et al., 1999). In addition, it is agreed that a high consumption of diet rich in carbohydrates is associated with a higher risk of insulin resistance (Liu and Manson, 2001, Jenkins et al., 1981). Accordingly, the use of a fructose-rich diet was for a long time used as a successful approach to explore the mechanism of the metabolic syndrome development (Rayssiguier et al., 2006). Since then, diets specifically high in fructose have been shown to induce a metabolic disturbance in animal models with a subsequent increase in weight gain (Kanarek and Orthen-Gambill, 1982, Kasim-Karakas et al., 1996), hyperlipidemia (Kasim-Karakas et al., 1996), and hypertension (Sanchez-Lozada et al., 2008b, Dai and McNeill, 1995). Commercially, fructose is used to substitute other sugars like glucose or sucrose as a sweetener for desserts, condiments and beverages (Daly et al., 1997). Fructose is a monosaccharide that resembles glucose in its chemical formula but differs in its chemical structure and is sweeter than glucose. It also exists as a disaccharide sugar known as sucrose which composed of one glucose molecule attached to a fructose molecule (Figure 1.2).

Previous studies have investigated on the relation between long-term ingestion of high calorie diet such as diet rich in fat and fructose and the occurrence of diabetes in human (Gross et al., 2004). Interestingly, the study showed that there is a significant association between type 2 diabetes mellitus and the high intake of high fructose corn syrup (HFCS).



Figure 1.2: Chemical structures of fructose, glucose and sucrose: Sucrose composed of one glucose molecule attached to one fructose molecule through a 1-2 glycoside bond.

This syrup is reported to contain up to 90% of fructose (Guzman-Maldonado and Paredes-Lopez, 1995) and is used to be a constituent of sweetened soft drinks, baked goods, candies, jams, dairy products and carbonated beverages in addition to many types of food product (Bray et al., 2004). Most importantly, fructose-sweetened soft drinks are now one of the most popular drinks worldwide (Park and Yetley, 1993). The increase in HFCS consumption had far exceeded the intake of any other food or food group (Gaby, 2005). As reviewed by Basciano et al., (2005), HFCS becomes problematic due to the increase in its intake and the fact that these high-calorie component when consumed are not actually balanced by lowering calories from the rest of the diet and this results in energy imbalance (Wharton and Hampl, 2004). Collectively, it is obvious that there is a need for a better evaluation and understanding of the hazardous effects of high-calorie rich diet on human life and the necessity for the proper ways to exclude them.

Different modes of fructose administration have been described using different amounts of fructose which result in variable features of the metabolic syndrome (Table 1.1). The administration of fructose either as drinking form or as a dietary component was reported to induce insulin resistance, hypertension and hypertriglyceridemia (Sanchez-Lozada et al., 2007, Abdulla et al., 2010b, 2011c). The use of either a 10% or 20% fructose solution in hamsters was reported to produce hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia (Barros et al., 2007). Moreover, a 5week consumption of 10% fructose solution in rat was found to induce hypertension and insulin resistance (Xu et al., 2010). However, as the amount of fructose ingested increased, the manifestations of the metabolic syndrome will also increase. **Table 1.1:** The metabolic effects of variable forms of fructose administration in different species with different lengths of the feeding periods.

Study	Mode	Species	Amount	Length of study	Effect
Huang et al., (2006)	Drink	Mouse	10%	3 weeks	-Hypertension, hyperinsulinemia
Sanchez-Lozada et al., (2007)	Drink	Rat	10%	8 weeks	-Hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia
Xu et al., (2010)				5 weeks	-Hypertension, insulin resistance
Bar-On and Stein, (1968)				6-19 days	-Hypertriglyceridemia
Abdulla et al., (2010b)	Drink	Rat	20%	8 weeks	-Hypertension, hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia -Impaired glucose
				20 44 35	tolerance, dyslipidemia
Wong and Johns, (1999)	Drink		60%	2 weeks	Hyperglycemia
Barros et al., (2007)	Drink	Hamster	10%, 20%	2, 4 & 6 months	Hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia
Bar-On and Stein, (1968)	Drink	guinea pig	10%	6-19 days	Hypertriglyceridemia
Feletou et al., (2003)				18 weeks	Hyperglycemia
Farah et al., (2006)	Food	Mouse	60%	8 weeks	-Hypertension, impaired glucose tolerance, dyslipidemia
Sanchez-Lozada et al., (2007)	Food	Rat	60%	8 weeks 6 weeks	-Hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia
Gersch et al., (2007)	Food	Rat	66%	4 weeks	-Hyperinsulinemia, hypertriglyceridemia
Jordan et al., (2003) Hwang et al., (1987)				2 weeks 4 weeks	-Hyperinsulinemia -Hypertension, hyperinsulinemia, hypertriglyceridemia
Wong and Johns, (1999)				4 weeks	-Hyperglycemia
Taghibiglou et al., (2000)	Food	Hamster	60%	2 weeks	-Hyperinsulinemia, hypertriglyceridemia
Martinez et al., (1994)	Food	Dog	60%	20-28 days	-Hypertension, insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, hypertriglyceridemia
Hallfrisch et al., (1983)	Food	Human	15%	5 weeks	-Hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia
Reiser et al., (1989)			20%		-Hypertriglyceridemia

Therefore, it is suggested that the diet form of fructose is associated with increased metabolic disturbance and organ damage compared to drinking form (Sanchez-Lozada et al., 2007). Furthermore, Dai and McNeill (1995) have shown that hypertension in this model of fructose feeding is concentration and time dependent. Therefore, the fructose model can be used as a useful approach for exploring various aspects of the metabolic syndrome through manipulation of its route of administration, amount ingested and length of feeding which may have applicability to the human situation as the metabolic syndrome develops.

1.2.1 Fructose metabolism

Fructose metabolism has gained recent research attention due to its undesirable effects and due to its impact on both glucose and lipid metabolism (Elliott et al., 2002). As reviewed by Basciano et al., (2005), this sugar is readily absorbed from diet and rapidly metabolized by the liver and is considered as a potent regulator of glycogen synthesis and liver glucose uptake. Therefore it produces catalytic improvements due to facilitation of hepatic glucokinase and glucose uptake, however, the positive effects of fructose do not continue with chronic fructose utilization (McGuinness and Cherrington, 2003). The higher amount of fructose in diet produces glucose and fructose malabsorption due to its lipogenic properties in addition to elevation in triglycerides (TG) and cholesterol (Ch) levels compared to other carbohydrates (Hallfrisch, 1990).

Fructose metabolism is shown in Figure 1.3. As previously reported (Elliott et al., 2002, Tran et al., 2009b, Basciano et al., 2005), fructose goes through a

phosphorylation step in the liver by adenosine triphosphate to fructose 1-phosphate in the presence of highly expressed fructose-specific fructokinase enzyme. Then, fructose 1-phosphate undergoes splitting by aldolase enzyme into three-carbon molecules: glyceraldehyde and dihydroxyacetone phosphate. These specific fructose end products can be converted to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate. Therefore, the fructose molecule undergoes metabolism into two triose phosphates that bypass the main rate-limiting step in glycolysis which is the formation of fructose 1,6bisphosphate from fructose 6-phosphate in the presence of phosphofructokinase.

On the other hand, hepatic glucose metabolism is limited by the ability to store glucose as glycogen. Moreover, it can also be prevented by the inhibition of glycolysis and additional glucose utilization resulting from the effects of citrate and ATP to limit the action of phosphofructokinase (Elliott et al., 2002). In the liver, fructose metabolism through the glycolytic pathway results in products such as glucose, lactate, pyruvate and glycogen. It is therefore suggested that this is the reason for considering high-fructose intake as a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (Abdullah et al., 2009). Fructose-derived intermediates enter the pathway downstream of the phosphofructokinase enzyme with a resultant formation of triglycerides and glycerol 3-phosphate. It is evident that fructose metabolism is a highly lipogenic pathway that results in hepatic accumulation of triglyceride and consequently hepatic insulin resistance (Basciano et al., 2005).





1.2.2 Fructose consumption and energy intake

Fructose is a natural sugar which is found in many fruits and honey and it is safe when consumed by human from its natural sources in a range of 16-20 g per day. However, the daily intake has increased significantly due to added fructose in diet to around four to five folds resulting in increased weight gain and energy consumption (Basciano et al., 2005). This disturbance in energy intake due to fructose is found to be accompanied by alterations in the actions of insulin and leptin (Bray et al., 2004), a hormone that produces the sensation of satiety. These two hormones are suggested to play a key role in the long-term control of energy homeostasis and body adiposity (Havel, 2001, 2002). Therefore, it is suggested that fructose promotes obesity more than glucose because it is not associated with thermogenesis (Levine, 1986). However, it is also reported that dietary fructose intake does not result in significant weight gain in a number of studies in rat (Bezerra et al., 2000, Lingelbach and McDonald, 2000, D'Angelo et al., 2005, Iyer and Katovich, 1994) and dog (Martinez et al., 1994) and this makes this model a proper approach to investigate the correlation between the metabolic syndrome and the development of hypertension without interference from other factors like obesity or genetic predispositions.

In contrast, many other reports have shown that this model is associated with weight gain in rodents (Abdulla et al., 2010b, Kanarek and Orthen-Gambill, 1982, Kasim-Karakas et al., 1996). The reason for this controversy in result from these studies is that fructose was introduced at different ages and therefore had different impacts on body weight. In relation to that, the introduction of fructose in diet during the adulthood period did not stimulate excessive weight gain compared to childhood (Huynh et al., 2008). This suggests that the timing of the fructose consumption

affects weight gain differently. Interestingly, the increase in energy expenditure in rodents was suggested to be a result of activation of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) (Haynes et al., 1997). Furthermore, fructose was suggested to suppress the action of leptin and therefore results in weight gain (Teff et al., 2004). The resistance to leptin action is associated with an increase in its fasting plasma level (Lee et al., 2006, Huang et al., 2004, Mooradian et al., 2000, Scarpace and Zhang, 2007). However, leptin resistance has also been reported in rats with unchanged plasma leptin levels (Shapiro et al., 2008). These reports therefore illustrate an important relationship between energy consumption, appetite control and weight gain in this model of the metabolic syndrome.

1.2.3 Fructose consumption and insulin resistance

Insulin resistance is considered to be the earlier and major feature in the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus (McGarry, 2002). In addition, it is also associated with other manifestations of the metabolic syndrome like dyslipidemia, hypertension, oxidative stress, endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular disease (Chisholm et al., 1997). It is known that insulin resistance is associated with compensatory hyperinsulinemia which is reported to be the sum of two mechanisms, one is primary hypersecretion and the other is adaptive hypersecretion (LeRoith et al., 2003). The adaptive hypersecretion is secondary to insulin resistance because of the inadequate stimulation of glucose uptake by insulin in target tissues which through a feedback mechanism can stimulate the β -cell of the pancreas to enhance the rate of insulin production and release (LeRoith et al., 2003). It has been previously shown that the intake of fructose-rich diet produced insulin resistance, a

condition whereby insulin is unable to produce its effects to suppress hepatic glucose production and stimulate glucose uptake in rodents (Hallfrisch et al., 1979, Zavaroni et al., 1980, Higashiura et al., 2000), dogs (Martinez et al., 1994) and also in humans (Wei et al., 2007, Beck-Nielsen et al., 1980). After short term exposure, it has been found that fructose does not stimulate insulin secretion (Curry, 1989) rather the insulin resistance and compensatory hyperinsulinemia was induced after long term fructose feeding in experimental animals (Blakely et al., 1981, Thorburn et al., 1989). Fructose-fed rats have been shown to have impaired whole-body insulin sensitivity (Thorburn et al., 1989, Higashiura et al., 2000). Different approaches have been utilized to assess in vivo insulin sensitivity. For example, the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) (Abdulla et al., 2010b, Song et al., 2004a), the intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT) (Iyer and Katovich, 1996a), intravenous insulin glucose tolerance test (IVIGTT) (Viswanad et al., 2006) and hyperinsulinemiceuglycemic clamp (Einstein et al., 2008, Gupta et al., 2000). Moreover, insulin resistance in this model is usually linked to hypertension (Bhanot and McNeill, 1996, Reaven, 1988). It has been suggested that the downregultion of the insulin receptors and a lower mRNA level of insulin receptors in skeletal muscles is associated with a decreased insulin-stimulated glucose utilization and a reduction in insulin sensitivity (Catena et al., 2003a). Litherland et al., (2004) have shown that GLUT5 receptors which act as fructose transporters have a possible role in the pathology of the metabolic syndrome associated with fructose feeding and insulin resistance due to the notion that the activity of these receptors is compromised in diabetic rats. It is therefore evident that the insulin resistance associated with hyperinsulinemia is considered as the most important manifestation of the metabolic syndrome. In relation to this, the metabolic syndrome is known previously as insulin resistance

syndrome. This may be due to the association of insulin resistance with other features of the metabolic syndrome especially hypertension. However, it may be that other features yet to be identified are also involved.

1.2.4 Fructose consumption and hypertension

The fructose-fed rat model is usually associated with systolic hypertension and has been reported in several studies (Sanchez-Lozada et al., 2008b, Hwang et al., 1987, Dai and McNeill, 1995, Abdullah et al., 2009). Insulin resistance associated with hyperinsulinemia may play an important role in the development of hypertension possibly due to stimulation of the SNS (Reaven et al., 1996). Therefore, various interventions utilized to enhance insulin sensitivity in this model were also able to normalize blood pressure (Iyer and Katovich, 1994, Higashiura et al., 2000, Navarro-Cid et al., 1995). However, blood pressure lowering agents do not necessarily ameliorate glucose intolerance and hyperinsulinemia (Elliott et al., 2002). It has been reported that the development of high blood pressure may occur as early as one week (Dai and McNeill, 1995), others however have shown increased blood pressure within 4 to 8 weeks (Verma et al., 1994, Abdulla et al., 2010b, 2011c, Hsieh et al., 2005), but interestingly no differences in blood pressure have also been reported (D'Angelo et al., 2005). This variation may be attributed to different diet composition used by these studies (Johnson et al., 1993), animal age or strain (Kotchen et al., 1997) and the techniques utilized to monitor blood pressure (D'Angelo et al., 2005, Ferrari et al., 1990). Therefore, it is suggested based on these studies that this effect of fructose is time and concentration dependent. The mechanism by which fructose induces the development of hypertension is not fully elucidated, however, several factors have been suggested such as hyperinsulinemia (Daly et al., 1997), enhanced activity of SNS (Verma et al., 1999, Farah et al., 2006, Rosen et al., 1997) or renin-angiotensin system (RAS) (Tran et al., 2009a, Kobayashi et al., 1993, Abdulla et al., 2011c), high circulating level of catecholamines (Tran et al., 2009a) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) (Juan et al., 1998, Verma et al., 1997b), high uric acid production (Reiser, 1985), sodium and fluid retention (DeFronzo, 1981, Reaven, 1988) and altered vascular activity (Verma et al., 1996b, Miller et al., 1999, Verma et al., 1996a). The proposed effect of hyperinsulinemia on blood pressure has been supported by the notion that chronic insulin infusion in rat is associated with elevated blood pressure (Brands et al., 1991a, Meehan et al., 1994). Moreover, fructose feeding has been associated with impaired vascular relaxation (Takagawa et al., 2001) and an increased expression of the angiotensin II (Ang II) type 1 receptor in adipose tissue (Giacchetti et al., 2000). Albeit many studies have explored the mechanisms by which fructose intake is associated with hypertension, there is still controversy on whether this model produces a significant increase in blood pressure or not. Figure 1.4 elucidates proposed mechanisms that may explain fructose induced hypertension.

1.2.5 Fructose consumption and lipids

In addition to hyperinsulinemia and hypertension, fructose intake has been reported to produce hyperlipidemia in rodents (Inoue et al., 1995, Okazaki et al., 1994, Motoyama et al., 2010). High fructose diet is suggested to upregulate the lipogenesis pathway and results in increased triglycerides production (Kok et al., 1996).



Figure 1.4: Proposed mechanisms that may explain hypertension and decreased vascular responses to vasoactive compounds in the vascular system of fructose-fed rats. SNS, sympathetic nervous system; RAS, renin-angiotensin system.

Therefore, higher circulating level of triglycerides was shown to occur due to fructose feeding in rat (Herman et al., 1970, Abdulla et al., 2010b, Sanchez-Lozada et al., 2007, Gersch et al., 2007). Interestingly, this effect of fructose is also concentration dependent (Elliott et al., 2002). Moreover, it has been shown that the high plasma level of triglycerides in fructose-fed rats is causally related to the development of hypertension in this model (Si et al., 1999). In relation to that, Damiano et al., (1999) reported the development of hypertriglyceridemia and hypertension but not hyperinsulinemia after 2 weeks of fructose feeding. The mechanism by which fructose feeding induces hyperlipidemia is through its metabolic pathway whereby glycerol combines with free fatty acids to form triglycerides (Jurgens et al., 2005). On the other hand, increased free fatty acids level is suggested to alter glucose metabolism and promote the development of hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance (Abdullah et al., 2009). It has been reported that insulin resistance may be a factor in causing dyslipidemia in this model (Mykkanen et al., 1994, Garg, 1996, Garg et al., 1988) through compensatory hyperinsulinemia, increased very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) secretion from the liver, and hypertriglyceridemia (Reaven, 1992). The increase in VLDL production from the liver during insulin resistance is suggested to be caused by a direct effect of insulin in addition to other effects such as the availability of free fatty acids for triglycerides formation (Lewis et al., 1995). Moreover, previous studies have shown that visceral fat mass is significantly increased in fructose-fed rats (Abdullah et al., 2009, Abdulla et al., 2010b). Thus the lipid lowering agents such as statins have been shown to improve the cardiovascular outcomes through their ability to improve lipid profiles, including the reduction of triglycerides. However, this was considered to be their indirect effect (Miller et al., 2004). It is evident from the literature that lipid abnormality in insulin resistance state with hypertriglyceridemia being the most common feature. In addition, as suggested previously, altered lipid metabolism plays a pivotal role in fructose-induced cardiovascular dysfunction (Hsieh and Huang, 2001).

1.2.6 Fructose consumption and vascular dysfunction

Due to the fact that the vasculature is responsible for the transport of essential molecules to the tissues, any impairment in its function may result in metabolic disturbance (Baron and Clark, 1997, Rattigan et al., 1999). In relation to that, impaired vascular responses to endothelium-dependent vasodilators have been reported in small vessels from fructose-fed, insulin-resistant rats (Miller et al., 1999, Katakam et al., 1999, Erdos et al., 2002). However, it is also reported that high blood pressure in this model is brought by the impaired endothelial function caused by insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia (Takagawa et al., 2001). In addition, increased sensitivity to vasoconstrictor agents was reported in the metabolic syndrome due to vascular dysfunction (Shinozaki et al., 2004). One possible mechanism which is responsible for vascular dysfunction is the impairment in the vascular smooth muscle K_{Ca} channels during insulin resistance (Dimitropoulou et al., 2002, Miller et al., 1999, Despres et al., 1996). Furthermore, it is suggested that the effect of insulin on endothelial nitric oxide synthase enzyme (eNOS) expression and nitric oxide (NO) production is impaired during insulin resistance resulting in impaired endothelium dependent relaxation (Verma et al., 1997a, Kamata and Yamashita, 1999) as illustrated in Figure 1.5. In addition, it has been shown that in type 2 diabetic or essential hypertensive patients with insulin resistance, the NO-

dependent vasodilatory response is impaired (Higashi et al., 1997). This is supported by the notion that the lipid lowering agents, statins were able to improve endothelial function in the metabolic syndrome through upregulation of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) expression, reduction of free radical formation and improving K_{Ca} function (Hernandez-Perera et al., 1998, Miller et al., 2004). From the above studies it becomes evident that endothelial dysfunction in the metabolic syndrome is associated with insulin resistance and may be responsible for higher blood pressure in this model.

1.2.7 Fructose consumption and renal sodium handling

Insulin resistance is characterized by a defective insulin-mediated vasodilation and this produces abnormal reabsorption of sodium from proximal tubules (Stenvinkel et al., 1995). Further to this, it has been suggested that this fructoseinduced change in filtration and reabsorption of sodium is attributed to hyperinsulinemia in this model (Song et al., 2004b). In support of this notion, the infusion of insulin in animals was associated with impaired sodium excretion (Baum, 1987) and this was further shown in humans (ter Maaten et al., 1999, DeFronzo et al., 1975). Hence, sodium retention by renal tubules in hyperinsulinemia is therefore suggested as a possible mechanism by which hypertension is developed in this model (DeFronzo et al., 1975). Due to insulin resistance, the vasodilator effect of insulin is impaired and therefore becomes unable to offset the counterregulatory decrease in proximal tubular sodium reabsorption during hyperinsulinemia and thus predispose to sodium retention (Stenvinkel et al., 1995). Previous studies have shown the reduction in sodium excretion after the long-term consumption of fructose rich diet (Nandhini and Anuradha, 2004, Onuma and Nakanishi, 2004, Abdulla et al., 2011c) but at the same time others have reported no change in sodium excretion (Navarro-Cid et al., 1995, Stepp et al., 2007). The lack of any change in sodium excretion after long-term fructose feeding suggests that sodium retention *per se* may not be the reason of hypertension in this model (Iyer and Katovich, 1996b). The urinary sodium excretion and the renal interstitial hydrostatic pressure have been reported to be regulated by NO system in the kidney (Majid et al., 2001, Kone and Baylis, 1997), therefore, any defect in that system may result in salt-sensitive hypertension (Ikenaga et al., 1993, Cowley et al., 1995, Barton et al., 2000). Furthermore, eNOS which is suggested to play a key role in sodium handling (Plato et al., 2000) has been reported to be inhibited in the kidney of fructose-fed and, salt-sensitive fructose-fed hypertensive rats (Kamata and Yamashita, 1999, Nishimoto et al., 2002). Therefore, the mechanism by which fructose results in sodium reabsorption as well as the association between insulin and sodium is not well understood and yet to be determined.

1.2.8 Fructose consumption and progression of renal disease

The metabolic syndrome is reported to be associated with microalbuminuria and hyperuricemia which are considered the early markers for renal disease (LeRoith et al., 2003). The data available regarding the relationship between fructose-feeding and the incidence of chronic kidney disease is varying. For example, it has been reported that fructose intake is associated with hyperuricemia (Choi and Curhan, 2008, Palanisamy et al., 2008). Choi et al., 2008) and albuminuria (Park and Meyer, 1992, Shoham et al., 2008, Palanisamy et al., 2008). Manitius et al., (1995) have shown that

fructose feeding for 2 weeks produced hyperplasia of mesangial cells in glomeruli and results in hyperfiltration. In addition, high fructose feeding has been reported to induce kidney hypertrophy, glomerular hypertension, cortical vasoconstriction and arteriolopathy (Sanchez-Lozada et al., 2007). Higher plasma creatinine and albuminuria have been reported by Palanisamy et al., (2008) following 60 days of fructose feeding in the rat. The authors also showed that it results in kidney morphological changes including fatty infiltration and thickening of glomeruli. It is suggested that hypertension in this model is an indirect cause of renal injury (Gersch et al., 2007). On the other hand, altered body homeostasis due to kidney damage may contribute to the development of hypertension. The renal damage associated with fructose feeding is suggested to be concentration dependent (Sanchez-Lozada et al., 2007). Accordingly, the development of altered renal haemodynamics and morphological changes depends on the occurrence of damaging features of the metabolic syndrome due to fructose feeding and is amount related. Furthermore, hyperinsulinemia due to fructose feeding plays an important role in the progression of renal disease. In support of that, treatment of fructose-fed rats with troglitazone as insulin sensitizer and to correct hyperinsulinemia has reduced the progression of renal disease (Yoshida et al., 2001). Roysommuti et al., (2002) have proposed that renal impairment characterized by impaired diuresis and natriuresis and higher glomerular filtration rate and filtration fraction after long term intake of diet high in carbohydrates is dependent on an intact RAS due to the fact that treatment with angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor captopril has corrected these impairments. On the other hand, it has been reported that the higher urinary NO excretion in fructose-fed rats may suggest a role of the renal NO system in the pathogenesis of the early renal changes induced by fructose intake (Cosenzi et al.,

22

2002b). In the mentioned study, fructose feeding for one month produced glomerular hypertrophy and increased expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase enzyme (iNOS) isoform in the kidney. The role of NO is evident by the ability of L-NAME, a nitric oxide synthase enzyme inhibitor to inhibit these renal changes (Cosenzi et al., 2002b). Although hyperinsulinemia is suggested to contribute to the pathogenesis of renal disease in this model but to date, the exact mechanisms responsible for the morphological and functional changes in the kidney of fructose-fed rat have not been identified.

1.3 Oxidative stress

1.3.1 What is oxidative stress?

Oxidative stress is an imbalance of the prooxidant antioxidant ratio. It is therefore the failure of the protective antioxidant mechanism to compensate the rise in free radical production. This results in cellular damage which ultimately leads to organ death. Oxidative stress plays a role in numerous clinical conditions such as diabetes, atherosclerosis, chronic inflammation and ischemia-reperfusion injury (LeRoith et al., 2003, Griendling and FitzGerald, 2003). As a result of oxidative stress, several defense mechanisms can be developed by the biological system. These mechanisms may either be preventive, repair, physical and antioxidant in nature.

1.3.2 Free radicals

Free radicals have been discovered in the biological systems more than 50 years ago (Commoner et al., 1954) and is defined as any atom or group of atoms that possesses one or more unpaired electron (Aitken et al., 2006). In addition, free radicals are either electrically charged or neutral and are unstable and highly reactive. Therefore, due to their high activity, free radicals can combine with another atom or atoms that have unpaired electrons causing their oxidation. High levels of free radicals produce harmful effect to cellular components such as proteins, membrane lipids and nucleic acids due to their ability to modify the structure of these biomolecules and ultimately result in cell death (Maritim et al., 2003).

1.3.3 Reactive oxygen species

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are metabolites which are produced as a result of oxygen reduction. Examples of ROS are superoxide anion $(O_2^{-\bullet})$, hydroxyl radical ('OH), alkoxyl radical (RO[•]), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and organic hydroperoxides (ROOH). In addition, the term ROS may include strong oxidants such as peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) and the most biologically active free radical ('NO) (Taniyama and Griendling, 2003). Superoxide anion is one of the most important ROS in the vasculature (Taniyama and Griendling, 2003) and formed through a one electron reduction of O₂ (Wolin et al., 2002). It has a role in the regulation of cell proliferation, migration, and apoptosis through the formation of H₂O₂ (Rhee, 1999, Taniyama and Griendling, 2003). ROS play an important role in mediating the consequences of oxidative stress in the body in addition to promoting the biochemical pathways which are necessary for normal cellular function. In addition, ROS exert

multiple roles within the cardiovascular system by acting as signaling molecules at lower concentrations. Therefore, ROS could have a beneficial effect when they are in small quantities but a harmful effect when higher amount is generated (Aitken et al., 2006). The superoxide anion is considered as a primary ROS and is produced in the mitochondria by the one-electron reduction of O_2 (Valko et al., 2005). This process is reported to be mediated by either enzymatic (NADPH oxidase or xanthine oxidase) or nonenzymatic redox-reactive compounds (Droge, 2002) (Figure 1.5). Mitochondria are considered an important source of ROS (Andreyev et al., 2005, Raha and Robinson, 2000) and most importantly superoxide production. However, the formation of ROS contributes to mitochondrial damage in a range of pathologies (Droge, 2002). In addition, mitochondrial superoxide dismutase enzyme (MnSOD) (Weisiger and Fridovich, 1973) is reported to scavenge superoxide radical by converting it into H₂O₂ (Deby and Goutier, 1990, Fridovich, 1978). This indicates the biological significance of mitochondrial superoxide production (Murphy, 2009). The H₂O₂ can be then converted into the highly reactive hydroxyl radical ('OH) in the presence of reduced transition metals such as ferrous (Fe^{2+}) ion (Chance et al., 1979, Kehrer, 2000) through the Fenton reaction (Figure 1.5). However, the H_2O_2 may otherwise be converted into water by the enzymes catalase or glutathione peroxidase (Droge, 2002). The H_2O_2 is known to be a stable ROS and an important signaling molecule in vascular cells. It has been suggested that the oxidant imbalance during oxidative stress is characterized by increased O_2^{-} and decreased NO availability (Zhang et al., 2003). Therefore, it is evident that different ROS coexist in the reactive environment each of which may be responsible for a given biological effect.